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such marks of affection or devotion from the Royal
hands, as “‘ finished or read at Motibag School ground
on—date ” followed sometimes by such a * certificate
of character”’, when the book was fortunate enough to
deserve it, as “ interesting ”’ or * instructive”, etc. This
wag the first stage in the development of this Library.
While located in the Palace, this litfle Library was
thrown open by His Highness the Maharaja for the use of
his officers. Naturally it was the higher officers who
visited the Palace, who first had the advantage of this
choice collection of the Maharaja’s books, and then gra-
dually the others below them got their turn fo partake
of the pleasures of this store of knowledge so graciously
set free by their Royal master. Soon the Palace Library
had to be removed bodily to the old Sarkar-wada near
Mandvi. This step, more than anything else done fill
then, went a great way to popularise the Library in the
real sense. The foremost advantage of this step was that
the Palace Library, which had by now launched itself
on a higher and a wider career of becoming a “ People’s
Library,” came to be located in the very midst of the
people—in the heart of the old city just in touch with
the famous public square called the Mandvi, where focus-
sed the four highways that emerged from the four inner
gates in the ramparts of what was old Baroda. Above all
the Library secured a home in the same old “ Sarkar-
wada ’ (or Royal Mansion) from which the ancestors of
the present Maharaja used to mix freely with the populace
outside on occasions of State festivities or family funec-
tions. Thus the people’s shyness began to diminish and
their confidence came back gradually with the revival of
old associations, In those days people may have wit-
nessed Jdistributed from this place from the Royal hands
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either alms, or food or sweets or higher rewards, but now
this very place became the divine source of knowledge
dispensed as a free gift from the Ruler to his beloved
people. That was a wonderful transformation and a
change welcome on all hands. More and more in number
came the people to take benefit of this Royal generosity
and larger and larger in size grew the Library so as to
be able to cope with the increased demand.

In the winter of 1910, an American, Mr. William
Alanson Borden, a library expert, was sent to India
by His Highness the Maharaja Gaekwad, who was then
for the second time touring in the United States.
To an educational enthusiast and an idealist like His
Highness who had already introdueed free and com-
pulsory primary education in his State, the splendid
sight of thousands of public libraries in the United States
of America could not but appeal. He therefore im-
mediately engaged Mr. Borden, who was then Librarian
of the Young Men’s Institute of New Haven, and sent
him to Baroda with the commission of opening free public
libraries in the Baroda State. Mr. Borden was well
qualified to carry out this work, being himself connected
with the public library movement in America almost
from its very inception. He was even a lecturer in the
first library training classes opened by Dr. Melville Dewey
in the Columbia University. Mr. Borden, therefore, both
by his long experience, and by his attainments, came to
Baroda fully equipped to carry out the task entrusted
to him.

The first task that Mr. Borden undertook was
to get the Palace Library converted into the Central
Library for the whole State, that is to say, to turn the
splendid private library of H. H. the Maharaja Saheb

Early
History.
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Rs. 1,500 per year was now given for setting up such a he o

Aroda Sampatrao Gaekwad, another of 630 Sanskrit books from : } g ; ;
Reading Room. Thus the Central Library began its

Library

Movement. the same Library, and a third of over 3,000 Sanskrit

printed books and Manuseripts which hitherto had formed
the Vithal Mandir Library of the State. These two latter
collections went to form the Sanskrit Branch of the Central
Library. Shrimant Sampatrao Gaekwad, who had
imbibed the enlightened spirit of his elder brother, H. H.
the Maharaja, had founded a separate Library of his own,
had named it after His Highness in compliment to the
latter’s noble work of popular education, and had thrown
it open to the public of the Baroda city free of charge.
When he was shown that some of his collections of books
would have a wider public utility in the Central Library,
where unrestricted facilities were given to the public,
he readily transferred his Vernacular and Sanskrit col-
lections to the mnewly founded Central Library. The
Palace Library, being His Highness’ private Library
formed from time to time according to the special require-
ments of His Highness’ study, consisted of a very limited
number of vernacular books. Shrimant Sampatrao’s
loan of his vernacular books was therefore very welecome
as 1t enabled the Central Library to start its Vernacular
branch forthwith. Similarly his collection of Sangkrit
books formed a valuable addition to the Sanskrit Branch.

At the commencement of this work of reconstruction,
H. H. the Maharaja Saheb was also graciously pleased to
increase the Library budget. The Palace Library had
an annual book budget of Rs. 3,000. This was now
increased to Rs. 13,000 per year in. consideration of the
various branches that were being formed and with a view
to making the Central Library a model library for the
State. The Palace Library had no Reading Room of
newspapers and periodicals. A separate grant of

career with the following sections : (1) Newspaper Reading
Room ; (2) Circulating or Lending branch consisting of '
English, Gujrati and Marathi sections ; (3) a Sanskrit
branch of printed books and Manuscripts. To these
were added in course of time (4) a Children’s Section,
(5) a Ladies’ Section, and (6) a Reference Section.

The Library Training Class.
(a) Its formation.

For all this work of reorganisation it was obvious
that a large staff of librarians and assistants was
necessary and that this staff should receive a scientific
training in librarianship on the most modern lines.
In March of 1911, therefore, Mr. Borden received sanc-
tion of His Highness’ Government to open a class for
training librarians, and to admit therein six graduates of
the Bombay University or men with higher educational
qualifications and six undergraduates, on s monthly
scholarship of Rs. 25 for one year and with a promise
to appoint, after one year’s successful training, men with
higher qualifications to the higher grade of librarians of
Rs. 60 to 100 and men with lower qualifications to the
lower grade of Rs. 30 to 50. Albhough this library class
was in the first instance, infended to train up a staff of
librarians required for the Central Library, yet word
was sent round all over India that His Highness the Ma-
haraja Saheb would be very glad to give the benefit
of modern Library training under the American Library
expert to any persons coming from any part of India.
But to His Highmess’ great disappointment this invi-
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side with this accessioning work, the work of classifying
books according to a modern scheme of classification was
started. Tor this purpose, Mr. Borden prepared a new
scheme of his own compiled with a view to suit the
needs of Indian libraries. This scheme is a combination
of two schemes of classification which are acknowledged
to be the most perfect and authoritative of those in vogue
in America, »iz., the Decimal Scheme of Dr. Melvil Dewey
and the Expansive Scheme of Charles Cutter. The
symbols for the first 26 main class divisions A to Z were
based on Cutter’s Alphabetical Scheme, while the signs of
the sub-divisions of these classes were Arabic numbers
and were adapted from Dewey’s Decimal scheme, as these
latter could be expanded to any extent by sub-dividing
each into nine heads and each of these again into nine
sub-heads and so on. Similarly Mr. Borden prepared his
own “° Author-Numerical Table.”” Thus Baroda got a
classification scheme of its own which eould be introduced
into libraries of all sizes. Naturally the classification
of all books in the entire Central Library took a long time,
and the whole library staff was kept busy at this work
for more than a year. In the meantime the Library was
increasing in size by leaps and bounds, partly by the
addition of large collections acquired as gifts, and partly
by the accession of the large number of books that were
purchased from the annual enlarged book-budget. This
left Tittle time for taking up in detail the work of catalo-
guing books thoroughly before Mr. Borden’s period
of service expired. He, however, gave the library class
a practical idea of cataloguing books, so that the work
could be carried on independently by the staff after his
departure. To this library course it was originally in-
tended to add one course of scientific preservation of State
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records. But Mr. Borden’s stay in Baroda being so The Central

short and the work to be undertaken being of a highly
technical nature, this course could not be added to the
curriculum. While the work of classification of books
in the Central Library was going on, such books, as clearly
belonged to a Reference collection, were being separated,
and thus a Reference Library was gradually being formed
and separated from the Cireulating or Lending Library.
The card catalogue also was slowly growing as the classi-
fication of books progressed.

In the course of time the Library Department took
up new activities, such as forming a Children’s Section,
a Sanskrit Section, and a Travelling Libraries Branch
as well as the opening of more rural libraries in the State,
and members of the Library class were made acquainted
with the working of these new activities. Thus the
Library class were given such a training in all phages of
library work that they could be fully qualified to go out
and successfully organise in the State or outside other
libraries on the most approved modern lines.

Working Methods in the Central Library.

As the Library class was being trained in several
modern processes of library management, the members
were given opportunities to work those out in practice
in the Lending Library Section. The chief feature of a
librarian’s work is that of dealing successfully with the
public and making the library increasingly popular. For
this purpose the saving of the borrower’s time by giving
him every possible facility is the principal consideration.
The old ledger-system of charging and discharging books,
a system utterly unsuited for a modern library having &
large number of daily borrowers, was discarded as it invol-

Library.
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The Information Bureau.

For a year or more since the Central Library was

Movement. oroanised, one of the librarians, who had special journalis-

tic experience, was entrusted with the work of keeping a
record of important articles in newspapers and periodicals,
particularly the Indian ones, and of preserving news-
cuttings or short summaries of important articles. H. H.
the Maharaja was rather keen on having such informa-
tion kept ready for his personal use, but unfortunately
this work had to be discontinued owing to the librarian
in charge having left the Department. Some attemnpts
were made to continue this work by subscribing to foreign
news-cutbings agencies, but the cost of it having proved
prohibitive the work seemed unfeasible and had to be
partly given up. While the Press Reporter’s office was
attached to the Library, it used to take note of almost
all important articles dealing with Baroda matters that
appeared in the more important Indian papers. But
since the removal of the Press Reporter’s office from
here, the work has not been done in the Library. Some
news-cuttings however are still being preserved in His
Highness” Private Secretary’s Office and some are
subscribed for by the Dewan Office. His Highness
however desires the work to be taken up again by the
Central Library and plans are afoot to commence it
once more in a more systematic way. Though H. W.
Wilson’s “ Reader’s Guide to Periodical Literature *
and the *“ Athensum Index to Periodicals™, are valuable
aids in this direction, still these foreign publications reach
India some time after date of publication of the maga-

zines indexed and moreover do not index all important

Indwn subjects. Moreover, these indexes being meant
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more for the general readers and being more of a lltemry The Central

character, they cannot be expected to meet the particular
requirements of one State or Province,

The Newspaper Reading Room.

When the Central Library came into existence there

was no Reading Room of newspapers and periodicals

attached to it . Till then the Baroda public took what

advantage they could of the free Reading Room of the

Shri Sayaji Library and of the subscription Reading

Room of the State Library. But owing to the limited
means of these two institutions, the number of papers
and periodicals subseribed by them was rather small.

This hardship of the Baroda reading public was removed
by His Highness the Maharaja’s granting to the Central
Library an annual budget of Rs. 1,500 for papers and
periodicals alone. Thus the Central Library was able to
open in its first year a large periodical Reading Room
with more than 200 papers and periodicals. These papers
represent all shades of opinions and quite a variety of
subjects, and thus attract a very large number of readers
every day. The Room is open from 7 in the morning
till 9 in the evening and has become a veritable place of
pilgrimage to all kinds of readers, young and old, high
caste and low caste, teachers and taught, rich and poor.
The daily attendance has risen from 200 in the beginning
to about 500. Of the papers and periodicals taken in
the Room last year (1917-18) 156 were published in India,

32 in England, 33 in America and 1 in Japan. All the
periodicals are displayed on separate tables in groups,
except duplicate copies of a few popular dailies and
weeklies, which are kept on stands to avoid the rush of

readers. Files of non-current papers, dailies and weeklies.

rary.



(SAAVAT OMI 40 FTINISOVA)  SUIEds TVINATIO §aVANIYD ,
AHL NI MMOM LSHId dGHL [ VSNVWIAVAAVY ,, 10 LJATHOSONVI AVAT-WIVd AMOLNED HLIOX

o]
L)
=
=
-
=
o ¥




(SHIMVEETT NMOL SLOA A¥¥N0s

ANV STRIVHEIT SOVITIA MOHS SLOT aNnow)

(9161) LOTMLSIO VAO¥VE NI HIMOND ANVHELT




Baroda
Library
Movement.

18

er there is always in attendance a trained and experi-
enced librarian to give all kind of information regarding
the Library. Besidesthereisthe Card-Catalogue arranged
according to Subjects, Authors, and Titles of books
kept for the consultation of borrowers. New books are
kept on view at one end of the counter and at the
other end University calendars for the use of students.
War books are also kept on view on the front two cases.
Books on Technical and Fine Arts and on Medical Seience
have been kept in closed ecases and not on open shelves,
since some of the picture-plates and important articles
were discovered to have been removed. These books can
be obtained for home use only after securing a special
written permission. This collection is largely used by
the students of the Kala-Bhawan (Technical Institute)
and the Central Library co-operates with that Institu-
tion in supplementing each other’s stock of books
in those subjects and thereby avoids unnecessary dupli-
cation. Similarly the Central Library co-operated with
the Seminar of Comparative Religion and Philosophy
of the Baroda College in the initial stage of the latter's
formation by keeping separately for the Seminar
students its ecollection of books on Religion and
Philosophy.

In the Vernacular division the Hindi and Urdu collec-
tions are not very large because readers of Hindi are

limited in number and the Urdu readers have another

large Urdu Library free for consultation almost a few
steps away from the Central Library building. Only
the more popular books in the Urdu language are
therefore kept in the Central Library.

More than one copy of the books much in demand are
kept in the Lending Library for the convenience of

19

readers : in some cases such duplicate copies number from ™
¥ Library.

half a dozen to a dozen according to the popularity of the
work and the demand of borrowers. l

Fc_’r the convenience of the general public the Lending
Jollection is kept on the entire ground floor of the build-

i‘ng while the Reference Collection is located on the entire
first floor above.

The Referemce Library.

This Library contains about 14,000 books in all, of
which the collection of Vernacular books is about 7 t;{){}
Gujarati books numbering 5,020 and Marathi b’OOk;
numbering about 2,580.

The English Reference collection contains mainly
hoqks generally required for reference work as also old
and rare books and costly sets. Thus there are not onl
z_LII kinds of dictionaries and eyclopadias, 1‘@})0%31 ang
Journals of societies, calendars, year-books and direc-

tories, guides and gazetteers, but also special “ libraries” °

and ** histories”, special editions de luze of such authors
as Dickens and Ruskin, costly picture-albums and ar;
]-JOOkS.) and bound volumes of certain periodicals. For
mstance, we have in this collection a complete valuable
set of Hansard’s Parliamentary Debates up to d(at-e
aJ.:"»out: o hundred volumes of the Parliamentary Re ort-f;
of the East India Company from 1772, a corrlpiete SI:Jt o;f
Pt,mch3 Notes and Queries and long runs of such
n:a.gazln&ﬂ as Quarterly Review, Edinburgh Review
Contemporary Review, XIXth Century, cT*‘ort-nirrhtl :
ete., Cambridge * Histories”, Histerians’l i{is‘rorv t:f t}i;
world, Archzological Reports and Linguisti'c ‘Surlve ’
of India, Asiatic Researches, Tauna of British Ind.i};,S

cyclopedias like the American and the Jewigh

e Ceniral
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CHAPTER III.
CHILDREN’S AND LADIES® BRANCHES.

I—Library work with Children.

The Children’s section of the library came to be
organised at the beginning of the year 1913 at the express
desire of T. H. the Maharaja Saheb. Till then the (Clen-
tral Library provided ample reading material for adults
only, teserving only a small separate corner for
juvenile readers. In fact, there being a paucity of
juvenile literature in the vernacular languages no pro-
per juvenile library could be formed for quite young
readers and the so-called juvenile section was and has
ever been largely used by high-school grade boys and
girls only. It was therefore thought desirable to make
an actual beginning in the direction of forming a veal
children’s Reading Room by drawing little boys and
girls to the Library by means as attractive as, or rather
more attractive than, picture-and toy-books, that existed
in the English language, but not in the Vernacular langu-
ages. The play-instinct is the most prominent character-
istic of the child mind. Every active child is eager to
make and to do things, to act and construct ; he is gurious
to know what makes machinery goes, how flowers grow
and how animals and birds live and what causes rain,
dew and wind. The educational possibilities offered
through the utilisation of this child instinet to unravel the
mysteries of nature are immeasurable. Equally strong
with children is the love of colours, those beautiful and
gorgeous colours that nature manifests before a child’s eye
in all her phenomena, such as bright sunshine, lovely

22
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flowers, variegated birds, foliage of every tint, ete., etc.
In forming therefore the first Children’s Room in the
Central Library, these two child-instinets were appealed
to by keeping in the Room a variety of table-games,
puzzle-boxes, kinder-garten gifts and occupations and
attractive but simple picture books and picture-posters.
It is the games that first enthrall a child’s attention in the
room and it is a delight to see groups of children engaged
in handling and adjusting parts of difierent mechanical
models, or worrying their brains in gaining an advantage
over their opponents in other games by the move of a dice
or cube, or showing their skill in cutting paper flowers
or shaping beautiful figures in plasticine or preparing
little wicker baskets, or adjusting picture-puzzles, or
pyramids or turning over the pages of picture books or pee-
ring through the stereoscopes over the stereographic views
of world seenery. This library believes in this means of
attracting children through games and appeal to imagi-
nation to useful books ; for there is no end to the enjoy-
ment or wholesome activity a child may derive from
such occupations which exercise his inventive faculties.
At the same time he gains a control of hand, a trueness
of eye and an accuraey of execution that will stand him
in good stead all his life. In course of time this room has
come to be very popular with children of all ages and 1t
has more than justified the object with which it was
started.

Year after year improvements have been made
in the get-up of the Room and its stock of mate-
rials so as to make the Room a centre of aftrac-
tion to children and to hold them spell-bound while
there. Thus among table-games there is quite a large
variety to suit different ages and various tastes and incli-

Children’s
and Ladies'
Branches.
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nations of the little ones. For instance, there are simple
puzzle boxes and card-games, games with dice, like ludo,
where’s-the-king, railway-race and others, and games
without dice like domino, pop-in-tow, go-bang, ete., ete. ;
highly ingenious games like meccano and buildo and
war games. So also there is quite a number of kinder-
garten gifts and occupations, such as plasticine .and
stick-laying, paper-cutting and flower-making, cane-
weaving and bamboo-work, tools of 2 tailor and a sailor,
a carpenter and a warrior and other occupations. In the
book section the pictorial side is fully represented. It
includes many rag-books and coloured picture-hooks,
panorams series of fairy-tales and series of natural history
pictures, midget-library of birds and animals and the
picture A. B. C. sets, pictures and postcard albums of
scenes from Indian and foreign history and wall charts
illustrating different industrial processes. Besides there
are a number of stereographic pictures of different
countries, which can be seen vividly through the stereo-
scopes and give geographical and historical information.
Then there is a small museum collection of curious
and interesting objects, among which are war models
and articles in miniatures, and curiosities from Japan and
America. Toadd to the attractiveness of the room, the
walls are decorated with beautiful pictures depicting
scenes from children’s life and examples of the flower and
animal worlds, of heroes from Indian history and of mem-
bers of the Baroda Royal family, miniature silk flags of the
nations of the world and wise sayings from Indian litera-
ture printed in colours and bold letters. To complete the
idea of the Children’s Reading Room, a few hundred
books in Gujarati and Marathi languages, some written
specially for children but mainly selected from the
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general collection as suitable for children, are kept on
open shelves, with about a dozen children’s magazines
in the vernacular languages arranged on the reading
tables. :

Tt must not be thought that the book side of the room
is only a nominal tag-end of the main picturesque array
of things ; it is actually a largely used, though a modest,
section of the room. Though unfortunately for our
vounger generation there is but a limited stock of juvenile
books in the vernaculars and their writers are still fewer,
yet because of the paucity of such literature, it is
devoured greedily and chewed again and again. We hope
that some of our writers will take the opportunity of
visiting our children’s room and catch the fire of
enthusiasm from the juvenile visitors so as to be spurred
on to write more anc more to keep these youngsters
always busy with their productions.

The Children’s Room is open from 12 noon to 6 in the
evening and any children can visitit at any time with
nothing to pay or to deposit for the uge of the room or its
contents. For their convenience there are reading
tables and chairs made speecially to suit their heights and
comforts and there is a lady librarian in attendance to
help and guide them. Generally it is the children from
the neighbouring schools who are its regular patrons.
Yet those from other scheols and localities do not lag
behind in crowding the room on Wednesday and Satur-
day afternoons which are half holidays to them.

To increase further the popularity of this Room,
two new features have been introduced in it since 1915,
namely holding a Story Hour and giving a Cinema Show

every Wednesday afternoon during the monsoon season.

Story-telling is a special feature of American Children’s

BRARY
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libraries and is found to be very helpful in attracting
children to the library and to its useful books. Owing to

‘the dearth of expert story-tellers American libraries hold

such story hours once a month or even aiter a longer
period. The situation in India is probably even worse
owing to the novelty of this feature. Story-telling to
c¢hildren is not new but is an hoary imstitution in India
and elsewhere, because for ages past in almost every
family a child has been fortunate enough to have either
a grand-mother, or a grand-father ; or a mother or an
aunt ; an elder brother or a sister to tell stories before
bed-time. Still story-telling, as an hand-maid to child
education, is not cultivated as an art. From the infancy of
the human race three requests have been on the lips of
men ; ** Tell mea story,” * showme a picture,” © What
is the news?” Listening to stories is of first import-
ance and indeed the birth-right of a child . ** The felling
of stories ” says Freebel, ¢ refreshes the mind as a bath
refreshes the body ; it gives exercise to the intellect and
its powers; it tests the judgment and the feelings.”
No wonder therefore that the Central T.ibrary should
have revived this time-honoured institution on modern
lines. Only a few possess the gift of story-telling and
fewer still have had the special training therefor from
the point of view of child psychology. Hence it is that
these story hours are held in the four months of the
monsoon, because it is then that one of our library ins-
pectors, who is also a story-teller, is in the library, being
{ree from inspection work and it is then also that some of
the school teachers, who have the reputation of telling
stories, and who kindly offer their services to us for this
purpose, are to be found in the Baroda City. At these

story-hours we invite from different vernacular schools.

27

by turns, boys and girls, about 100 to 150 at a time and
tell them a story or twoata time. (Generally these stories
are from our epics or history, or from English or American
history. At the end of the story the name of the book is
given and children are asked to read that book at home.
Sometimes children are asked to write out for competition
a story of a particular national heto or a national holiday
and small prizes are given for their encouragement.
After the story-telling, there follows the other fea-
ture which keeps alive children’s interest in the library,
viz., the cinema show. It is this that helps to satisfy
the second eternal craving of the human mind ; © Show
me a picture.” As in the infancy of the world, so in
the infancy of a human being, the visual appeal comes
first of all. No written or spoken sentence can reach
the mind as swiftly and concentratedly as the thing seen,
the road from the eye to the brain being short, perhaps the
very shortest; and when modern science sets the pictures
moving their fascination becomes irresistible. Hence no
form of entertainment combined as it is with instruction,
has in these days achieved such a measure of success as the
cinematograph. There are such educative potentialities
in the cinematograph that it cannot be ignored as a
powerful factor in modern education. The central Library
therefore fully utilises this means of educating the child
along with entertainment. Unfortunately here one is
not so independent as in story-tellimg. There one can
select any tale from the vast store of one’s own national
literature ; but here one is not able to show films on any
subjects one likes, for the choice is limited to the supply of
subjects filmed in other countries and from other peoples’
point of view. Hence one has to make the best use of
what instructive films are available in the market. This

Children’s
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and its members used to meet, as they meet even now,
once a week on Saturdays in the Public Park. There
the Library began to send one of its lady librarians with
books in a few travelling library boxes. This arrangement
soon became popular. TLater on the Librarian carried
with her some parlour games and stereograph-pictures
with stereoscopes. Then there began to come a demand
for magazines, specially the pictorial ones. This justified
the step taken by the library. During this first year, 87
members of the club took advantage of the books sent
and the total circulation of books was 955 during 34
weekly visits. Next year the circulation went up to 1,380
books during 37 visits. Year after that, as previously
arranged, the Mahila (Ladies’) Library in the city became
a branch of the Central Library in August 1914, but
remained in its original premises for the sake of the better
convenience it afforded to the purdah ladies in the city
who felt diffident in visiting the Central Library.

From the year 1915 library-work with ladies began
to grow rapidly. In January of that year a new
Ladies” Club called ““Shri Chimnabai Ladies’ Club”,
came to be opened in the premises of the Training
College for Women, and memkbers met there on Sunday
alternoons.  This Club was meant for ladies of middle
class families. They also brought with them their child-
ren of all ages.  The Central Library thus got a new
field to work in. Tt began to send its lady librarian
there with vernacular books for adults, picture-books
and rag-books for children, and table-sames for both.
Thus the civeulation of books among ladies of both clubs
for that year went to 2, 028, over and above the 687 cireu-
lation at the Mahila Library Branch. In this way the
work went on growing in popularity among the ladiss of
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the city, and along with 1t inoreased the spread of books i o

ren’s

also. During the next year the two clubs together issued Branches.

3,861 and the Mahila Library issued 955, thus making a
total issue of 4,816 books among women only. %
During all these years the number of lady borrower‘n. in
the Central Library itself was also slo\:vly _but pemeyfolblyl
rising, #the presence of a lady librarian in charge (:.l thgl
(hildren’s Room induced several of them tf} tln'o.w off then
Lashfulness and to take direct advantage of the Library. As
soveral new branches of work have come to be a-dded‘ to the1
Central Library Department since 1913 (W{le]] the 1f1ea oi‘
opening a separate Ladies’ Branch in t.he Lentr:.sl ybra‘ry
was mooted) the available spare room 1n the building was
in the meanwhile all taken up by these new branches an{%
no sepatrate accommodation could be prov{ded for the la(ll}
borrowers of the Central Library. Ultimately as their
number began to grow to an extent that c?,nsed milt-.ua.l
convenience to them and the children in the (Child-
ren’s Roomi, a new small Reading Room was 9138116}1
for the ladies in a room adjoining .the Chﬂdf‘en's
Room, and the same was also placed in charge of the
Children’s Librarian. This room was opened on t};\e Ist
of June 1917 and was provided with books m ‘t-he
Gujarati and Marathi langunages and with sm‘feral p_e}:loc}
icals. Tn that year (1916-1917) the total circulation of
.books in all these ladies institutions, that is, th.e. two
chibs, the newly opened Iadies’ Room in the (Jentra,l‘
Library and the Mahila Library Branch, rose 1.;0 6_,7_03 (of
which 1,906 books were circulated inthe Mahila Library
alone). Finally, during last year 4.e., from Augu‘st 19.] 710
July 1918, the total circulation among the ladies of th.e
city jumped to 9,303, of which 2,309 went to the credit
of the Mahila Library.
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CHAPTER 1V,
SANSKRIT LIBRARY BRANCH.

Its formation and development.

The Sanskrit section of the Central Library came to
be formed in the latter part of the year 1912. Till then
there was practically no stock of Sanskrit books in the
Central Library, except a very small collection of 160
books that had been collected in a stray manmner in the
Palace Library. This does not mean that there was mo
Sanskrit collection of books elsewhere in the city. There
existed one excellent collection of Sanskrit printed books
and manuscripts in the Vithal Mandir belonging to the

State. It contained about 1,610 manuscripts and about °

1,070 printed books. Formerly there was a Sanskrit
Pathshala attached to the Vithal Mandir, in which a
good many valuable manuseripts came to be preserved.
Besides, the Shrivan-misa-Dakshina examinations, that
have been held here annually for some years past, enconr-
aged the study of Sanskrit and led to the acquisition
of good manuseripts. There was also a collection of about
630 printed books in the Shri Sayaji Library of Shrimant
Sampatrao. When the Cenfral Library staff had got
somewhat {ree from the heavy work of accessioning and
classifying the entire Palace Library (then converted into
the Central Library), they found time to take up the form-
ation of special collections. We had on our stafi ome
librarian, who was an M.A. in Sanskrit and who was doing
on his own account some regearch work in Sanskrit and
especially in the Jain literature. Besides, there were two
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other librarians who knew Sanskrit. So it was feasible Sanskrit
Library -

to organise a separate Sangkrit section.

At this very time, H. H. the Maharaja Saheb, in his
Ootacamand trip came across one Sanskrit Shastry, by
name R. Anant-krishna Shastry, and engaged him
for giving him discourses on the Bhagavad-Gita. M.
R. A. Shastry had before that been working for 10 years
with the Adyar Library, Madras, and for 9 years with the
Oriental Library, Mysore, as a shashtry for searching
manuscripts from all over India and had therefore gained
considerable experience in this line of work. His
Highness, who was thinking of organising on a fair scale
a Sanskrit Library in Baroda, induced Mr. Shashitry
to come over to Baroda for about six months for forming
such & Library. Thus, in November 1912, with the
coming of Mr. Shashtry, a beginning was made of form-
g a separate Sanskrit section of the Central Library.

For this purpose the first step taken was to transfer
the Vithal Mandir collection of Sanskrit manuscripts and
printed books to the Central Library. Thereafter Shrimant
Sampatrao Gaekwar, at the request of the Central Library,
kindly transferred his collection of 630 Sanskrit books as
a loan to the Central Library. At this time another small
but valuable collection of 446 Sanskrit manuscripts and
about 60 printed books, belonging to one Yadneshwar
Shashtri of Baroda, was acquired through Dewan Bahadur
V. M. Samarth. At the special recommendation of Mr.
R. A. Shashtry, His Highness also sanctioned Rs. 3,500 for
purchasing new Sanskrit books to round out the collection
of printed books. As soon as this Sanskrit section was
formed, the publishers of the difierent Sanskrit series in
India were requested to present their publications to the
Library. Slowly gifts of books from different sources

Branch.
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began to come in. In this way with a collection of over
2,000 manuscripts and of about 2,000 books, the Sanskrit
Branch of the Central Library was given a good start
on its future career.

To the manuscript collection already made came
to be added a few interesting manuscript rolls written
on paper in a minute hand and beautifully illuminated
by artists of the Rajputana school of painting. These
belonged to the Royal Deva-Ghar (or Chapel) and were
kindly presented by Her Highness the Maharani Saheb,
One of these rolls contains the whole of the Mahabharata
and is 228 feet long, two are of the Bhagvat: one 84 feet
long, dated Samvat 1871 (complete) and another 55 feet
long, without the 12th skandha, one of Harivansa 44
feet long and another of the Gita 10} feet long. Though
the rolls are not more than a hundred years old and are
not intended for reading with the naked eye, yet for
their beauty of illustrations and the skill of the scribe’s
art they are a valuable acquisition.

During the first year of the organisation of the
Sanskrit Branch, 666 new books were added by purchase
and 88 came by way of gift. During his few months’
short term of service, Mr. R. A. Shashtry prepared a list of
books and manuscripts and took up the work of preparing
5 classified catalogue of both. By the end of that year 300
manuscripts were catalogued. When Mr. Shashtry left in
April 1913, Mr. C. D. Dalal, M.A.  the Sanskrit scholar and
trained librarian, was placed in charge of the Sanskrit
library.

Special manuscript searches.

During the same year a post of a travelling Pandit for
searching and reporting manuscripts was sanctioned. Dur-
ing the next year (1913-14),173 printed books were added

¥
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of all the palm leaf collections, namely, that of the famous
Hemachandra. Of this collection, Dr. Peterson says,
“1 know of no other town in India, and of few in the
world, that can boast of so great a store of documents of
such venerable antiquity. They would be the pride and
jealously guarded treasure of any University library in
Europe.” Mr. Dvivedi’s catalogue contains a list of
2,619 works. Before Mr. Dvivedi, scholars like Forbes,
Dr. Biihler, Dr. Bhandarkar, and. after him, Dr. Peterson,
had made similar searches of Pattan Bhandars, but their

. efforts were only partially successful. Mr. Dvivedi’s search

however was perfunctory rather than thorough, being
intended only for the purpose of vernacular translations
and not for the elucidation of the texts. Besides, through
the proverbial jealousy of the keepers of these Bhandars
Mzr. Dvivedi could get access only to a few works and not
to all. This time however His Highness’ Government
was lucky in getting a Jain Sanskrit Scholar, Mr. Dalal,
to tackle these Bhandars carefully. Mr. Dalal, who
already knew more about these Bhandars through his Jain
Muni friends, so won over the keepers of the Bhandars by
his tact and unstinted labour that he was allowed free
access to all the thirteen Bhandars in Pattan. These
Jain Bhandars at Pattan contain not only Sanskrit
works, Brahmanical and Jain, but possess also old
and trustworthy manuseripts of old Gujarati language
both in prose and poetry. These afford good materials
for writing a history of the Gujarati language and philo-
logy, thereby filling up the gap between the Apabhramsa
of Hemacharya's Prakrit Grammar (11th Century) and
the old Gujarati of Mugdhavabodha (14th Century). In
three months, Mr. Dalal examined fully the contents of all

the Bhandars, which amount to about 13,000 paper and
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658 palm-leaf manuscripts, He also prepared a descrip- Sanskrit:

: : . . Library:
tive catalogue of the 658 palm-leaf manuscripts. This Seaich

search at Pattan brought to light not only some rare and
important Brahmanical, Buddhistic and Jain works, but
algo a new literature in Apabhramsa language (about 25
in number) and works of the 12th, 13th and 14th centuries,
in the Gujarati language alone.. Mr. Dalal submitted a
report of his gsearch in April 1915 and a scheme for publi-
shing the most important of these manusecripts in a series,
on the lines of the other Sanskrit series published
by the Bombay, Madras, Mysore, Travancore and Kashmir
Governments. On the strength of this His Highness’
Government sanctioned in December 1915 the publi-
cation of an Oriental Series, called the “ GAEKWAD’S
ORIENTAL SERIES.™

The Gackwad’s Oriental Series.

At first the Government sanctioned the publication
of eleven works recommended by Mr. Dalal. - Seven of
these were in Sanskrit, two in Prakrit, one in Apa-
bhramsa and one in Gujarati. The editing of each work
was to include the text of the original work, with the text
of commentaries if available, a preface mentioning the
manuscript-material used and an introduction in English
giving the substance of the work, life of its author, its
position and importance in literature, it date, merits, ete.
Bach work was to be printed in royal octavo form. Mr.
Dalal himself undertook to edit three of these and the
others were proposed to be entrusted to other scholars
from outside. But the Government ordered that as far as
possible the majority of these works should be edited by
Mr. Dalal and by Mr. R. A. Shastry, who had again
joined the Department in August 1915. A sum of
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Rs. 16,000 was sanctioned as an initial expense of pub-
lishing the works, and the Series was to be published
by the Central Library Department. Among the works
sanctioned to be published one belonged to the Sth
century, another to the 10th, a third to the 11th, two to
the 12th, and so on.

The work of editing was begun in right earnest from
January 1916 and the first two works—the Kavyamimansa
(900 A. D.) and the Naranarayanananda (between 1221 and
1231 A. D.), both works of poetry—were edited mainly by
Mr. Dalal, with the assistance of Mr. R. A. Shastry, and
brought out by the end of July 1916;and three more
works : (3) Hummirmaeda-mardana by Jayasinha-Suri, (4)
Tarka-Sangrahe by Ananda-Jnana, and () Prachina-
Gurjar-Kavya-Sangraha, Part 1, were gent to the press.
Thus the publication of this series went on apace.

Remarkable Growth of the Library.

It was mentioned above that the services of Mr. R. A.
Shastry were engaged again in August 1915. It was
necessary to acquire a sufficiently large stock of good
manuscript-material in order to keep the publication of
the series going on continuously, as also to build up
the manuscript library to a good size. Therefore,
besides the work of editing works in the series, Mr.
Shastry was also entrusted with the work of collecting
new manuscripts. He made several tours for search of
manuscripts during the year and was sometimes assist-
ed by Mr. Dalal in this work. Thus, by July 1916, the
Library was able to acquire 1,106 manuscripts from
different places and to add to the printed stock of books
516 new books, mainly by purchase. Similarly, in the
following year, 289 new books were added to the
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printed. The work of collecting important manuscripts
was pushed on with the same vigour as before, and in the
last official year (August 1917-18) 1,271 new manuseripts
were added to the collection. This year also saw two
more works in the Gaekwad’s Oriental Series brought out
of the press. '

A Unique Oriental Institute in Gujarat.

By the end of 1918, the Sanskrit Library possessed 2
stock of 4,579 printed books and 7,616 manuscripts.
Considering that this is the work of only six years, quite
short period for forming such an excellent collection, it
must be declared to be an unparalleled record in the his-
tory of any library. Baroda has now got & unique and n
fact the largest Sanskrit Library in the whole of Gujarat.
perhaps the second library in that respect inWestern India.
It will greatly encourage Sanskrit research work on this
side and may very well lead to the formation of a Central
Oriental Regearch Institute or of an Oriental University
for the whole of Gujarat.

The * Gaekwad’s Oriental Series” too, during the
short period of only three years, has made a good progress,
having to its credit ten works already published, about
ten more in the press and about the same number under
preparation. Mr. Dalal’s share in the work of editing the
Series is really praiseworthy, he alone having under-
taken 14 works and having written Introduction and
Notes to two others. The Series has been able to secure
favourable opinions from several Oriental Scholars, in-
cluding Dr. A. A. Macdonell, Sir G. A. Grierson, and
Sir Vincent A. Smith, and high appreciation from the
public press, like the *“ London Times ”, and others too
numerous to be mentioned.

A
e

CHAPTER V.
THE FREE PUBLIC LIBRARY SYSTEM.

Early Beginnings.

In 1901, H. H. the Maharaja Saheb desired the Dewan
to put into action without delay His Highness’ idea of
opening “‘a circulating library as an experimental mea-
sure in one of the Mahal Kasba Towns and circulating
books among the people with a view to disseminate
general knowledge and information.” His Highness ex-
pressed his opinion that the experiment need not be
started with an advanced town like Petlad, but in order
to watch its results, should commence with any other
Kasba town with a group of 20 villages centrally
connected to it; that it chould be a free cir-
culating library at the commencement, some fee
being only gradually introduced when a large number
of readers begins to avail itself of the advantages
thus offered ; that the books should be of popular and
instructive character capable of developing the general
intelligence of the masses and of affording them culture,
and that the experiment, if proved satisfactory, should
be extended to other Mahals.”” This was the germ of the
idea of giving public libraries to the people of Baroda.

It took three years for this idea to germinate, and two
years more for it to grow into a thriving plant.

From America, His Highness in 1906, sent to the Minister
of Educationg cablegram, followed by a detailed order,
in which he directed © that circulating libraries should be
established in every Taluka or Peta Mahal (of the State)
so that people in villages also may have opportunities to read
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and some enthusiasts in the State educational service had
already caught the fire of His Highness’ zeal for the
advance of education. They began to spread know-
ledge among the masses by starting local associations of
teachers and other educated persons in sympathy with
the cause of mass education, His Highness’ first idea
of starting free circulating libraries for groups of villages
was brought into practice by these local associations by
starting reading circles and reading rooms among rural
communities in July 1906. These local associations came
to be known by the name of “ Mitra-Mandal ”* (friendly
circles) and were started not only in the Baroda BState
but in the adjoining districts of British Gujarat. They
were not connected with one another by any for-
mal link, save that they owed their origin to the
initiative of ome person, Mr. Motibhai N. Amin, B.A.,
Head Master of the Anglo-Vernacular School at
Petlad, now Assistant Curator of Libraries, Baroda. In
the first year of their activity there were 30 Reading
Rooms started by these associations in the Baroda
State. Next year (April 1907) when the Government
scheme of Circulating Libraries was brought into force,
the Mitra Mandals approached the Government for help
and were given Rs. 15 annually for each Reading Room
and Rs. 100 worth of books for Rs. 25 to each Library.
Assisted by these grants the Mitra Mandals pushed on their
work with zeal and vigour, and brought into existence
a8 many as 100 Reading Rooms and Libraries in the State
of Baroda. Tt will thus be seen how the Government
scheme helped to encourage other co-operating agencies to
carry out its object on a.widerscale, and to spread a net-
work of rural libraries throughout the State within a
very short period of time.

e 2
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Under the Government scheme the Prant Panchayats,
by way of taking greater interest in works of public
utility, were expected to help this scheme of public educa-
tion, and were therefore asked to contribute every year
a total sum of Rs. 2,900 from all the four Prants : Baroda
Prant contributing Rs. 900, Kadi Rs. 1,000, Navasari
Rs. 700, and Amreli Rs. 300. The public * Choras -
or rest-houses in villages were also to be utilised, wherever
possible, for library purposes.

The scheme of Circulating Libraries was thus set
working with highly satisfactory results. In the first
year 100 Village Libraries were started, of which 75 were
administered by the Mitra Mandals. Next year the
number of libraries rose to 151 and in the following two
years it went up to 166 and 223. Besides these libraries,
there were started mere Reading Rooms for newspapers
and periodicals. Their number fluctuated from 60 in the
first year to 20 in the fourth year, because some of them,
having succeeded in raising sums of Rs. 25 each for pur-
chase of books, were eventually converted into Libraries.

Besides these Village Libraries, there existed in the State
24 Town Libraries owned by private bodies of subsecribers,
19 of these having buildings of their own. The total
Government expenditure for all these Libraries and
Reading Rooms for four years (from 1907 to 1911)
amounted to Rs. 74,001 (including commission on books
purchased and prices of Government publications pre-
sented), the Panchayats’ contribution to which was
Rs. 9,649. Altogether the Government, the people and
the Panchayats working together spent a sum of
Rs. 97,890 during the first four years for the spread of
public libraries in the State.

The Free

ibrary
System.
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Free Public Libraries.
In educational movements such as these greater benefit:

Movement. 1 derived from intensive rather than extensive develop-

ment. Out of the 200 and more Circulating Libraries that
were opened during the four years, a considerable number
gradually fell into a moribund condition. Instead of
remaining increasingly active year after year, they became
practically dead from the point of view of public utility.
The reasons for this were not far to seek. Under the Circu-
lating Library scheme, books were given to them once for
all. There was no provision made for adding fresh sup-
plies of books to the old stock ; therefore, when the novelty
of the first stock had worn off, the books became less and
less used, and either remained rotting on the shelves or
got scattered for lack of interest. A library is like a
reservoir of drinking water ; it must continually be fed
by a running stream if it is not to become stagnant and
unusable. Bubt a constant supply of new books meant
more money for further purchases, which again called
forfresh annual grants, and there was no provision in the
scheme for such annual grants. It further implied a
living interest in the library on the part of the persons
in charge of them ; but the libraries had hardly any budget
to maintain even menials drawing Rs. 3 or 4 per month,
much less to pay for good librarians. Further, good libra-
rians meant good knowledge of library work, and more
intelligent direction from above. If the library was to
strike deeper roots in the soil, it required a thorough
reconstruction of the existing system, and such a recon-
struction required to be planned by some one possessing
an intimate knowledge of the intricate working of public
library organisations in other countries. It was again the
United States of America that was called in for help.

i
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His Highness the Maharaja Saheb, during his second,
tour in America in 1910, took the opportunity to study
more carefully the problem of the public library movement
in that country. His Highness was on the lookout for
one who knew that movement intimately from its very
inception and who was willing to go to Baroda to under-
take the work of reconstruction that was awaiting him
there. Fortunately for Baroda, His Highness found such
a man in Mr. W. A, Borden, who was, as we have said
before, fully qualified for the task. Mr. Borden’s investi-
gations, after his arrival in Baroda, of the library
situation in the State, convinced him that there need be
no further hesitation about beginning his work in right
earnest.

In his investigations Mr. Borden found that in Baroda
City alone there were more than half a dozen book collec-
tions of no mean proportions. The Palace Libtary, the
Shri Sayaji Library, the Baroda College Library, with
some of the Departmental Libraries, possessed among
them an aggregate of 1,50,000 volumes. Distributed
throughout the State Mr. Borden found other libraries
aided by State, Municipal, or Panchayat grants. In
Baroda Prant there were 14 libraries with 14,140 volumes :
in the Kadi Prant there were 11 libraries with 6,770
volumes ; inthe Navsari Prant 9 libraries with 12,668
volumes ; and in the Amreli Prant 6 libraries with 6,018
volumes. Thus in the four districts of the State, there
were 40 larger libraries with nearly 40,000 volumes in
their possession. There were again about 200 or more

- very small Village and Town Libraries with an aggregate

of 25,000 volumes supervised by the Educational Depart-
ment of the State. Mr. Borden therefore conceived the

idea of bringing all these libraries under a more centralised
4
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organisation with an independent department of libraries,
called the Central Library Department. The work of this
department would consist of

(1) The creation of a Central Library for Baroda.

(2) The starting of a Library class for t-rainin-g stu-
dents in the art of library administration.

(3) 'The creation of an Information Bureau, for the
collection of information from periodicals on

all matters worthy of note and especially on

the activities of different Indian communities.

(4) The organising of libraries in the various talukas
and especially creating a taste and desire in the
people for having libraries of their own in
their own villages, and putting the existing
libraries on a better footing and opening

. new libraries wherever really necessary.

It was expected that in some ten years the whole scheme
would be in good working order and would necessitate an
mvestment of some 18 lakhs of rupees—a pretty large
sum no doubt, but * from the national mtelligence it
would foster, it would be considered as good an investment
of capital as one could make.”

With the first three functions we have already dealt.
We are here concerned only with the last. This function
involved the accomplishment of the following -definite
ends :—

(1) Establishment of Free Libraries where none
exists,
(2) Encouragement and aid to small libraries already
in existence.
(3) Conversion of Subscription Libraries into Free
Libraries. : :

al

(4) Introduction of State * Travelling Libraries”
in schools, libraries and clubs,

(3) Co-operation with literary men in preparing
reading lists on special subjects and general
lists for special classes.

The Reports sent by the secretaries of different
Circulating Libraries managed by the Minister of
Education showed that out of the 200 Village Libraries
only about 100 were in working order. This clearly
proved that the efforts of the people to organise libraries
and to put them on a sound basis had not met with com-
plete success. It was necessary that the CGovernment
and the Panchayatsshould enter into complete co-opera-
tion with the people. The Library Department, therefore,
keeping this principle of co-operation in view and having
especially in mind the conditions and needs of the people
for whom these libraries were intended, prepared a set
of Rules for the formation of Free Public Libraries. These
Rules passed into State legislation by a Council Order,
dated 27th June 1911. A hrief summary of this legisla-
tion is given below :—

“In the Rules which will be called ‘Tree Public
Library Rules” it is provided that when the
citizens of a village raise a sum not exceeding
Rs. 50 annually for the maintenance of a free
reading room, the Panchayat of the Prant and
the Central Library Department shall each
pay an equal amount to the same reading
room. When the villagers raise a further sum
of Rs. 25 and pay it to the Central Library
the latter will present them with Vernacular
books of the value of Rs, 100.

The Free, .
p'l:lbuﬂ b
Library -
System.
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ings and Rs. 996 for the salary of the staff of this branch.
There was also transferred to this Department by the
Educational Department a sum of BRs.15,000, which remain-
ed with it as balance of the original grant of Rs. 30,000
for creating subscription libraries. Of this Rs. 6,000 were
spent for creating 150 travelling libraries and the remainder
for supplying books worth Rs. 100 to each new library
on payment of Rs. 25.

At the end of the official year (1910-11) when the
Fducational Department transferred the work of opening
public libraries to the Central Library Department there
were 223 Village Libraries and 20 Reading Rooms.  Besides
these there were 24 Town Libraries owned by private bodies
of subseribers, and of these 19 had buildings of their own.
During its first year (1911-12) of work the Central Library
Department converted 9 of the subscription Town Libraries
into Free Public Libraries, opened 42 new Village Libraries
and brought new life into the 223 formerVillage Libraries
by giving fresh grants, and opened 60 Reading Rooms.
Thus at the close of this first year, out of the 100 villages
of the State having a population of from 4,000 and 2,000,
71 had Public Libraries ; out of the 326 villages with a popu-~
lation of between 2,000 and 1,000, 119 had public libraries,
and out of 2,630 small hamlets of less than 1,000, 75 had
such libraries. In the following year (1912-13) the number
of Town Libraries rose to 34, of Village Libraries to 310,and
of reading rooms to 79. Besides the 19 Town Libraries
that had their former buildings, 11 more Town Libraries
and 3 Village Libraries were given building grants. The
cireulation of books in the 34 Town Libraries was 61,838,
while the Village Libraries circulated 37,693 books, thus
bringing the total circulation of books in all the rural
libraries to 99,531. During the former year the Govern-

— e
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ment expenditure on libraries was only Rs. 11,651 which
this year rose to Rs. 45,607. |

This year is rather important in the history of Baroda
libraries on account of the two important schemes of
development of libraries submitted by Mr. Borden for the
consideration of the Government. First of these schemes
is dated 25th March 1912, and is based on a « Report on the

Organisation of Libraries in Baroda State ” submitted by
Mr. Borden at the desire of H. H. the Maharaja Saheb on
21st July 1911, almost immediately after the first working
scheme for these libraries was commenced. Mr. Borden
asked the Government to sanction a sum of over Rs. 20
lakhs (or, to be exact, Rs. 20,60,869) to be distributed
over ten years for completely organising the entire library
system from the Central Library at Baroda to the very
small Village Libraries. When these ten years had elapsed
and all the libraries had been set on a solid working basis,
a further grant of Rs. 1,20,300 for annual maintenance of
the entire system was asked for. In this scheme the fol-
lowing proposals were made :—(1) to erect 2 decent build-
ing for the Central Library at Baroda at a cost of Rs.
6 lakhs (4 lakhs for the building and 2 lakhs for book-
stacks and furniture); (2) to spend Rs. 36,000 for pre-
senting collections of books to the twelve first class Town
Libraries for rounding out their existing stock of books, to
contribute Rs. 18,300 as building grant to these libraries
and Rs, 2,000 annually for their maintenance ; (3) to set
apart a sum of Rs. 1,00,000 for founding the three Prant
Libraries at Navsari, Amreli and Mehsana with decent
buildings each large enough to house a eollection of 20,000
volumes and. to provide annually Rs. 2.000 for their
maintenance. Thispart of thescheme was to be taken up
after the building of the Central Library at Baroda was

The Free '
Public
Library -
System.
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'l}.l‘br:ad:y Thus to .summar.i'se the library situation in the Baroda
Movement. State, ontside the city of Baroda, at the end of July 1918:—
(1) All the 42 large and small towns of the State
with a population of 4,07,958 had free publc
libraries with good buildings and adequate

stock of books.

(2) In the villages 560 small libraries and reading
rooms have made provision of reading mate-
rial for a population of 7,04,965 (or nearly
41 per cent.) out of the total village population
of 17,24,175. 5

(3) Out of the entire area of 8,182 square miles of
the State, an area of 8,173 square miles (9
square miles of the city and cantonment of
Barcda being excluded) had a provision of 602
Libraries and Reading Rooms, or in other
words, for every 13} square miles there was a
Library or a Reading Room in the State.

(.

CHAPTER VI.
TRAVELLING LIBRARIES.

A 'proposal for sending Travelling Libraries to village
and Town Libraries and to schools, social clubs, ete., was
made at the very beginning when the ©“ Rules for the For-
mation of Free Public Libraries ”” were sent up for Govern-
ment sanction in May 1911. The object in commencing
this library activity at once was that under the natural
action of the Library Rules it wounld have taken several
years for even large villages to have established their own
free libraries and many more years for smaller villages to
get such libraries. In the Baroda State there are 426
large villages having population between 4,000 and 1,000,
and 2,628 small villages with population less than 1,000.
It was therefore necessary to reach ab once these smaller
and isolated places and give them the benefits of the free
library .system. A Travelling Library is the quickest,
easiest and cheapest method of supplying such libraries
to remote places and is, besides, a powerful means of creat-
ing a taste for reading and subsequently a desire fo
possessing their own library among smaller communities.

In the first year sanction was taken for spending Rs.
6,000 for the preparation of 150 Travelling Libraries
mainly of vernacular books and also of a few English books
suitable for high school grades. Eighty-three wooden
cages were prepared and the actual work of sending these
out was begun in February 1912. During the five months
of that official year these cases were sent out on 90 trips
through 49 centres and they circulated 6,992 books among
2,574 readers. The stock of books during the first year
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memo. for returning the Library. Since the object of a

Travelling Library is to increase the use of books, the condi- -

tions of lending books are necessarily simple, and liberal,
Books are issued to any one who is known to the custodian,
or is guaranteed by a respectable person or who deposits
the price of the book. A Travelling Library case after the
peridd of three months is returned dirvectly to the Central
Library for inspection of books, repairs, record of
issues, ete., for all efforts to reduce transﬁort-a.’aion expense
by transferring these cases directly from one centre to
another without being sent back to the head quarters
result in loss and damage of books, with no means of fixing
the responsibility. These Travelling Libraries are sent
entirely free, the Government bearing even the transport
charges of cases both ways.

These Travelling Libraries belong to two kinds of
collections : one collection consists of “ fixed ”* sets and
the other is of a “ general ” nature. Books in a Travelling
Library of a fixed set cannot be replaced by any others,
while a Travelling Library belonging to a general eollection
is made up anew at every trip of different books suggested
by borrowers. A Travelling Library, being a miniature
public library, has to carry out the first function of the
latter, viz., to get books, and especially the best books, to
the book-less, so that they may be induced to read, not
as students, but as casual readers. Hence a Travelling .
Library has first to take care of the general, untrained
reader, who in a large majority of cases, has no absolute
choice in the matter of books. Therefore for putting good
literature in places where reading is scarce, fixed-set’”
libraries are largely used ; while the fund mental idea of
a “ general collection” library being to supply the actual
varying needs of different intelligent communities, such
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libraries have naturally not a very large demand.

As the popularity of these libraries depends mainly on
the books selected, and as persons, who have only a few
books to select from, soon lose their interest if they find
too much serious literature in these libraries, the selection
of books is always made to suit the standard and taste of
these readers. Hence in a Travelling Library there is
always a large proportion of wholesome fiction along with
judicionsly selected books on other subjects, Among
the “fixed-sets " there are special sets for women and chil-
dren, students and teachers, farmers and artisans, as well
as for Urdu, Hindi and Marathi readers. Each fixed-
set is carefully made up with a view to the interests and
attainments of a particular class of readers, both English
and Vernacular. Thus in our “ fixed-set ** ibraries there
are 273 vernacular libraries of 118 different sets contain-
ing a total of 5,288 books. Similarly in the English fixed-
sets there are 45 libraries of 45 sets containing 810 books.
Thus there are collections specially formed for children of
varying ages, for students in different grades of vernacular
and English schools, for teachers studying child-education
and pedagogy. for persons interested in religion and bio-
graphy, and so on. There are at present 321 libraries of
166 fixed-sets aggregating 6,098 books. In the general col-
lection there are 9,054 books. The total stock of travel-
ling libraries consists of 15,152 books, .e., 12,072 Gujarafi,
1.820 English, 903 Marathi, 176 Hindi, and 181 Urdu.

The progress of the Travelling Library activity during
the last seven years since its inauguration has been very
rapid. From 83 cases and 2,400 books in the first year
this branch now possesses 441 cases and 15,152 books.
The circulation of books too has been encouraging and the
year 1914-1915 has been a record year so far. During the

63

first four years (1911-12 to 1914-15) the circulation rose rraveling

from 6,992 to 15,303 per annum and the number of readers

from 2,574 t0 7,556. 'The last three years have been years

of preparation of printed lists of the sets and of
general re-organisation of the system ; therefore the work
of sending out libraries in large numbers counld not be car-
ried, out continuously throughout the whole period. Most
of the cases were withdrawn from circulation and 6,098
books were arranged. in 166 fixed sets to form 321 libraries.
Now that this re-organisation is completed, the circulation
that had dropt during the last three years, will certainly
increase by leaps and bounds, and the Travelling Libraries
will keep busy a large number of the 2,628 small rural
communities in the State.

In conclusion, it may be asserted that it is not possible
to devise a scheme of extension to our system of popular
education, which will circulate among the masses so
muech good reading, at so small a cost, as the institution
of free travelling libraries.



CHAPTER VII.
VISUAL INSTRUCTION BRANCH.

The system of public libraries was designed to supple-

ment the instruction to be obtained in schools and colleges.
Yet, however extensive and intensive the work of the libra-
ry system may be, there will always be a number of people
who will be unable to receive any direct benefit therefrom
because of their inability to read. And of such there is
an overwhelming majority in India and in Baroda 90 out
of 100 areilliterate. And yet, this 90 percent. of the popula-
tion of the State need instruction and in fact need it more
than those who can instruct themselves by means of books.
Naturally the only method of such instruction must be
by lectures and by pictures, preferably by lectures illus-
trated by pictures, still or animated. “ Pictures,” said
St. Augustine, ‘“are the books of the ignorant.” These
pictures can be either ordinary pictures, maps, or charts,
efc., that can be shown directly, or picture post-cards,
stereographs, magic lantern slides or cinematograph films
that can be projected in a magnified form on a screen.
The last—the cinematograph—has now captured the
whole world by its power of attraction and instruction,and
has come to be recognised as a potent force not only as
an entertainer, but as an educator of that part of the
public which stand most in need of education.

Seeing therefore the possibilities of the cinematograph,
His Highness, in 1910, asked Mr. Borden to purchase in
TLondon a large cinematograph and several films and lan-
tern slides for the purpose of illustrating His Highness’
trip round the world. Mr. Borden accordingly purchased
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an Urban einematograph machine to be worked with
lime-light in district places, 19 standard films and about
450 lantern slides. These formed the nucleus of the
Visual Instruction Branch, that was organised a little
later on. :

After a few experiments with these apparatus,
Mr. Borden was later instructed to submit a proposal
for organising a special branch for such visual instruction

Visual
Instruciion
Branch.

in order to carry systematic information to people whom

the Educational Department could not directly reach, or
to those with whom it had ceased to be in contact, and also,
with its co-operation, to the children of the public schools.
Such a Branch was accordingly sanetioned temporarily
for one year in January 1913 with a grant of Rs. 10,000.

At the request of the organizers of a Teachers’ Confe-
rence at Kheralu in Kadi Prant, the machine was first
shown in that place, and shows were afterwards given in
several places of that Prant. During that year 38 shows
were given in 16 places to about 35,800 people. This was

certainly a good beginning. Next year it being found

that the large cinema machine was too cumbrous as well
as too delicate to be moved to small places in the districts,
1t was arranged to purchase one Home Kinetoscope of
Edison at a cost of Rs. 900. Inthe meantime, the new
parlour cinema machine, called the ““ KOK,” manufac-
tured by Pathé Freres, was purchased for Rs. 275. This
machine is easily portable, produces its own electric light,
and can moreover be worked by any person of ordinary
intelligence.

The same year six stereoscopes with four sets of pictures
originally purchased for being sent through the travelling
Library cases to district places, were transferred to the
Visual Instruction Branch. Additional 24 sets were
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obtained from America at a cost of Rs. 1,619. By the

‘end of this year Mr. Borden was about to retire; so he

was commissioned to purchase new films, etc., in London’
of the value of Rs. 3,000. Mzr. Borden sent 11 standard
films of the cost of Rs. 2,787. Seven more “ KOK” films
were purchased, as also a second “ KOK ™ cinema machine
in the year 1914-15. About 90 shows were given in this
year by both kinds of machine, besides the local shows
given in the children’s room by the smaller machines.
Altogether 62,000 persons, including children, got the
benefit. Also 120 sets of stereographs containing about
3,600 pictures were distributed in the city and in the dis-
tricts. More than Rs. 4,000 were spent on materials orly
this year.

During the following year owing to a heavy rise in prices
of the materials for producing Lime-light, as also owing
to the trouble caused by the heavy gas-holder, the larger
machine was used less frequently and the main work was
carried on by means of the two “ KOK” machines. 17
shows were given by the large machine in the city only and
111 shows in the districts by means of the smaller machi-
nes. More than 56,000 persons were entertained. Also
more than 200 stereograph sets were distributed. Thisyear,
14 new “KOK?” films were added to thestock and one new
machine, called the “ Radiopticon”, was purchased for
projecting picture post-cards on the screen. This machine
is very useful and economical as ordinary picture post-
cards can be shown by it in-a magnified form without
incurring the expense of converting them into lantern
slides. About 1,000 picture post-cards were purchased in
Europe, America and Japan for exhibiting by means of
this Radiopticon.

Upto now this branch was worked by a trained librarian
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and & clerk in the Central Library and two library inspec-
tors. This arrangement was found unsatisfactory, so far
as the larger machine was concerned. Besides at the
beginning of the year 1915-16 toavoid all thetrouble and
expense caused by the larger machine, a new large cinema
machine, called “Pathé’s Self-contained Cinema Group”
was purchased for Rs. 2,000. This machine has its own
small dynamo for producing electric power, and the whole
apparatus is easily portable in out-of-the-way places.
To ‘work this and the other larger machine a qualified
mechanical engineer was appointed as an operator, and
one of the library inspectors, who was specially taken on
the stafi for the purpose of giving lectures and discourses
to the country folk, was appointed supervisor of the
Branch. By this time the Branch had in its possession
2 large cinema machines, one worked with lirce-light and
the other with electric light, 3 “ KOK ~ machines, 3 old
type electric machines, which were out of order, 1 separate
magic lantern worked with acetyline and another with
electric light but out of order, 1 Radiopticon, 50 Stereo-
scopes with 5,400 Stereograph pictures, 52 Standard and
33 “KOK?” films, and about 800 lantern slides. With these
materials the Branch has now been doing its work regu-
larly and giving shows throughout the State. More films
of war topics and more lantern slides of the British Empire
tour-sets have been recently added. During the year
1916-17, 94,000 persons and during the last year 152,000
persons got the benefit of the shows given by this Branch.

Visnal
Instroction
Branch.
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was opened in 1913 for training librarians for the town
libraries in the districts. Twenty-one persons were ad-
mitted on a monthly scholarship of Rs. 20 and after a

training of five months they were sent back to their libra-

ries to take up systematic work. Similar training has
been given either to organised classes or to individual
librarians from time to time. Among those who came for
training may be mentioned librarians sent by the States
of Mysore, Indore and Dewas and by the Elphinstone
College, Bombay.

Nutéworth,v Events.

Some of the noteworthy events in the history of the
library may be briefly mentioned before closing this short
record of its work.

The library movement is essentially a co-operative
movement and the years 1876 and 1877 stand as land-
marks in library history, as witnessing the foundation of
the American and the British Library Associations. Both
Associations were prompt in starting journals to act as
organs of their societies and as media of inter-communica-
tion between librarians. The most important develop-
ments in library work in England and the United States
date from the foundations of these two organizations.
It is therefore gratifying to know that an Indian Library
Association has been established in 1918. When the
Baroda Central Library Department was founded in 1911,
the time was not ripe for an All-India Association.
However the staff of the new Department were able to
start g Library Club, which held meetings once a month or
s0, and which was favoured by the patronage of H. . the
Maharaja, of successive Dewans of the State and of other
distinguished persons. Some members of the Club also

71

established the Library Miscellany, which is published in msg:t :

three languages—English, Marathi and Gujarati—and
which is the first and the only journal of its kind in India
devoted to the library movement. This quarterly is not an
official publication, but is financed and managed by certain
members of the Library staff ; it has been running since
1912 and has enjoyed the sympathy and patronage of His
Highness’s Government. Similar attempts to create a
spirit of mutual help among librarians of the State have
been made from time to time. In 1915 a gathering of the
Secretaries of the Town Libraries was held in the Central
Library with the idea of starting Taluka Library Associ-
ations and eventually Prant Library Associations. A
Prant Library Association for Baroda Prant has as a mattcr
of fact been founded.

Since its foundation the Department has held various
exhibitions with a view to encouraging the library move-
ment and to engaging the interest of educationists, soclal
workers and the general public in the cause. The first of
such exhibitions was held in Mehsana in January 1915, the
second was organised at the Baroda Health Exhibition in
March 1915, and the third at the opening of the Dabhoi
Public Library in January 1916 by His Highness the
Maharaja. We had also a Music Exhibition in connection
\;ith the All-India Music Conference in March 1916, and a
special exhibition to ecommemorate the Shakespeare
Tercentenary Celebration in April 1916. On another
occasion we arranged an exhibition illustrating the pro-
gress made by British, American and Foreign journalism
by a collection of newspapers and magazines on various
subjects of different countries. Another exhibition
was on a more ambitious scale. It formed part of
the Court of Education in the Baroda Agricultural and
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Industrial Exhibition held in Baroda in January 1917,
It consisted of the following nine sections: Baroda
Library Progress; Children’s Corner; Library Archi-
tecture ; Library Furniture ; Library Appliances: Book
Binding ; Book Curiosities: Technical Literature and Visual

Instruction Apparatus. On this occasion cinema shows

were given on the grounds every night. A similar library
exhibition but on a little smaller scale was organised in the
Gwalior Agricultural and Industrial Exhibition at the
special request of the Exhibition Committee. This was
greatly appreciated by the Gwalior public and won two

Gold Medals, one for the Library Exhibits and the other for

the Visual Instruction Work. In January 1918 the Gov-
ernment of India having convened the First All-India
Conference of Librarians at Lahore and having invited
the Baroda Government to co-operate, the Central Library
sent a delegate who took part in the proceedings. read a
paper on the Baroda Library System and arranged a small
Library Exhibition.

END

CENTRAL LIBRARY DEPARTMENT,
BARODA.

Educational Commissioner
A. B. Clarke, Esq., B.A. (Cantab.)

Book Selection Committee
The Educational Commissioner (Chairman).
The Curagor of State Libraries.
The State Librarian.
Sanskrit and VYernacular Sub-Committee
For Sanskrit and Marathi.
B. R. Arte, Esq., M.A., Professor of Sanskrit, Baroda College.
For Gujarati.
D. L. Purohit, Ksq., M.A., LL.B., Pleader, Varishta Court.
Motibhai N. Amin, Esq., B.A., Assistant Curator of State Libravies:
For Urda.
Sayad Nawab Alli, M.A., Professor of Persian, Baroda College.
For Hindi.
Pandit. Atmaram, Inspector, Antyaj School.

Staff of the Department
Curator of State Libraries.
J. 8. Kudalkax, M.A., L1.B.

CENTRAL LIBRARY,
State Librarian and Render io H. H. the Maharaje Guebwad..
Newton M, Dait.
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